IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

MARTHA VIA Appellant

VS.

MISSISSIPPI FARM BUREAU FEDERATION,
RANKIN COUNTY FARM BUREAU (A.A.L.),
RURAL INSURANCE AGENCY, INC., SOUTHERN
FARM BUREAU LIFE INSURANCE CO., SOUTHERN
FARM BUREAU CASUALTY INSURANCE CO.,
MISSISSIPPI FARM BUREAU CASUALTY INSURANCE CO.,
TOMMY ALLEN, AND JOHN DOE #1 THROUGH
JOHN DOE #25
Appellees

On Appeal From the Circuit Court of Hinds County, Mississippi Second Judicial District Civil Action Nos. 252-07-10 and 252-07-26

BRIEF OF APPELLANT Oral Argument is not requested

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Plaintiff served as a contracted agent for the Defendants and the Plaintiff entered into contracts with each insurance company Defendant on or about March 8, 1991. [R.(782) at 33-34]. In both Complaints at issue in this appeal, the Plaintiff brought causes of action arising out of her dealings with the Defendants, including breach of contract, tortious breach of contract, fraud, conspiracy, intentional misrepresentation, negligent misrepresentation, intentional infliction of emotional distress and negligent infliction of emotional distress. [Id. at 36-44].

The Defendants sought dismissal of these Complaints on the theory that the statute of limitations had expired on the Plaintiff's claims, arguing that her date of resignation from employment with the Defendants somehow emerged as the trigger date for the commencement of the statute of limitations. [R.(782) at 156]. In both motions to dismiss, the Defendants introduced matters outside the pleadings, consisting of letters of resignation and affidavits, in an attempt to meet their burden to prove the affirmative defense that the statute of limitations had run. [Id. at 156,; R.(783) at 23, 24, 84]. Further, the Defendants made reference to the Plaintiff's Affidavit attached to her opposition. [R.(782) at 197]. The motions to dismiss were couched as Miss. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) motions, but the Defendants clearly asked the trial court to engage in a summary

The Plaintiff's Complaints are silent about the date of her resignation and make no reference to that date in alleging any right to recover the contract compensatory damages she has made in these actions. That is why the Defendants were compelled to introduce subject matter outside the pleadings, because an examination of the only filed pleadings, the Complaints, did not establish the Defendant's affirmative defense or sustain any sort of dismissal under Rule 12(b)(6). The Plaintiff claimed compensatory monetary damages arising from breach of contract because the Defendants failed to pay what they owed her in the months following her resignation. Both Complaints clearly make claims for these monetary damages that the Defendants were required to pay her, by contract, after resignation. The Plaintiff alleges the Defendants entered into written contracts with her and agreed to meet certain obligations and promises. [R.(783) at 12; R.(782) at 5]. Upon looking at the terms of the actual contracts, one will find provisions such as subsection 7(c) under "Payment after Termination" in the contract with Defendant Southern Farm Bureau Life Insurance Company, wherein it is provided that "...the Company will pay you an monies earned and due you at the date of your termination and, out of premiums received by the Company after such termination, the balance of any First Year Commissions and Bonus Commissions which would have become payable to you if this contract had continued in force." [R. (782) at 45, 166]. The Plaintiff alleges that the Defendants failed and refused to perform their obligations under the contracts, which would have included the Defendants ultimate failure to pay her what she was entitled to after she resigned. [R.(783) at 13, R.(782) at 28]. The Plaintiff alleges and fair dealing. [R.(783] at 14]. The claimed losses are substantial pecuniary loss, contract compensatory damages, and punitive damages. [R.(783) at 13, 14, 20]. It appears that a great deal of the Defendants'failure to pay the Plaintiff what she was entitled to under the contracts had to do with improper or erroneous "coding" of business to other agents. [R.(782) at 6, 15, 17-18, 20]. While the Plaintiff was still in the employ of the Defendants, they ostensibly attempted on multiple occasions to correct instances of mis-coding and assure the Plaintiff was properly paid for business she procured. [Id.]. By contract, the Defendants were obligated to pay her for all the monies she was entitled to in the months following the contract, and the Plaintiffs claims for monetary relief arising from contract are predicated upon this obligation.

The Defendants submitted evidence extrinsic to matters presented in the Complaints in support of their motion in an effort to prove that the statute of limitations had run on the Plaintiff's claims. The Defendants declared in their motions that resignation must necessarily commence running of the statute, but never directed the trial court's attention to any authority showing that as a matter of law a date of resignation will trigger the running of statute. However, the contracts contemplated payment of monies due to the Plaintiff after her resignation. Her monetary damages accrued after her resignation when the Defendants elected not to pay her as required by contract after separation.

In response to the Defendant's motions and submissions, the Plaintiff filed an Opposition with an Affidavit attached. [R.(782) at 188]. The Plaintiff clarified in her

paid to her in the usual and customary manner, including commissions from Progressive and other policies she had procured that would accrue throughout 1997. [Id.]. She was paid the normal and customary manner in the month following her resignation some commissions due to her, but many outstanding commissions remained to be paid throughout 1997. [Id.]. The Plaintiff was never affirmatively told orally, in writing or otherwise by any of the Defendants in this action that the companies had no intention of living up to their contractual obligations to pay all commission that were due to Plaintiff and claimed by her subsequent to her resignation. [Id.]. The Plaintiff did not learn of the Defendants' evident decision not to pay her commissions due after separation until she failed to receive payment of commissions accruing in 1997 by December 31, 1997. [Id. at 189]. She also did not learn of that fact until she failed to receive a tax form 1099 that would document such earned income. [Id.]. Regarding the fact that the Defendant insurance companies apparently fostered such activities as mis-coding business, the Plaintiff did not learn of the deliberate nature of such practices until she by exercise of due diligence met other persons who had experienced similar practices during their time with the Defendants in late August or early September, 1998. [Id.]. Because the companies appeared interested in correcting malfeasance, such as the mis-coding practices, the Plaintiff was lead to believe that the companies themselves intended to honor their obligations to pay her everything that was due to her under the contracts after separation. The Affidavit was submitted to clarify that the claims in both Complaints reached commissions that were contractually due in the months following the premiums received by the Company after such termination, the balance of any First Year Commissions and Bonus Commissions which would have become payable to you if this contract had continued in force."

The trial court elected to author one Memorandum Opinion and Order concerning the motions to dismiss both actions. [Id. at 209]. In the first section, "Factual and Procedural History," the trial court identified the contracts, the right of elective termination of the contracts, and that the Plaintiff submitted her resignation on August 14, 1996, effective August 31, 1996. [Id. At 209-210]. The trial court therefore considered the extrinsic material submitted by the Defendants in their motions [Id. at 156, 161], because the dates pertaining to resignation were not presented in either one of the Complaints. The information was introduced by the Defendants to prove that the statute of limitations had run on the Plaintiff's claims. The Plaintiff, therefore, was entitled to be heard and present extrinsic matters, such as affidavits, to rebut the Defendants' assertions that mere identification of the exact date of effective resignation meant the statute began to run on August 31, 1996. The trial court, although it considered matters extrinsic to the pleadings, elected to decide the motions as if they were brought under Rule 12(b)(6). This failure resulted in the consideration by the trial court of extrinsic matters submitted by the Defendant in its motions to dismiss, but disregard for the Affidavit and any other matters the Plaintiff submitted in rebuttal.

The trial court claimed to look only to the Complaints to determine the motions, yet made factual findings that could only have been made in reliance on the submissions

termination. [Id. At 213]. Incredibly, the trial court actually found that the Plaintiff did not allege failure to receive ANY of the compensation she was entitled to under the subject contracts. [Id. At 213-14]. Basically, the trial court's reasoning construed the allegations of both Complaints to lack any claim for monetary contract damages As previously presented, both Complaints made general and specific allegations that the Defendants did not meet contractual obligations owed to the Plaintiff, referenced the specific contracts wherein provisions for payment after separation were contained, and claimed damages for contractual compensatory damages for the post breaches of these provisions. The claim for all commissions owed under the contracts, regardless of when they were due, is clearly brought in both actions. The Plaintiff sufficiently plead claims for contract damages owed after termination, and even if the Plaintiff had not made specific reference to exact contractual provisions, under Miss. R. Civ. P. 8, each Complaint provides adequate notice of the these claims. See Miss. R. Civ. P. 8 ((comments): "The rule allows the claims to be stated in general terms so that the rights of clients are not lost...."). Further, although the trial court had before it two different motions to dismiss pertaining to two different Complaints, it purported to analyze the contents of only the first Complaint in ruling on the motion pertaining to the other Complaint. There is no attempt to explain why the trial court chose to do this or why it would be proper to do so. Nonetheless, the trial court insinuated in its opinion that if the Complaints could be read to include claims for contract money damages (they did), some or all of which became contractually due after termination (the claims reached

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In both matters at issue in this appeal, the Defendants erroneously sought to dismiss the actions by motion ostensibly brought under Miss. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6). Similarly, the trial court erroneously construed the motion as brought under Rule 12(b)(6), thereby applying the wrong rules of decision to decide the motions. In this case, the Defendants raised the affirmative defense of limitations expiration and introduced matters outside the Complaints in an attempt to prove that. The trial court did not exclude, and in fact, relied on the Defendants' submissions. By doing this, it considered the extrinsic matters raised by the Defendants, but ignored the Plaintiff's Affidavit and otherwise deprived her of a reasonable opportunity to present all material pertinent to the Defendant's affirmative defense. This was error and the trial court should be reversed.

The Defendants sought dismissal of the Plaintiff's Complaints with prejudice under Miss. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) on the contention that the statute of limitations governing the Plaintiff's claims had expired. The Plaintiff's allegations were to be taken as true and the Defendants were required to show beyond a reasonable doubt that the Plaintiff would be unable to prove *any* set of facts in support of the claims. Because the Defendants' sole basis for seeking dismissal of the Plaintiffs' claims was the supposition that the applicable statute of limitations had expired, the Defendants in fact asserted an affirmative defense that they had the burden of proving. The Defendants introduced no factual evidence demonstrating that the statute of limitations ran on any of the Plaintiff's

Page -13-

The Plaintiff made claims that encompassed components of contracts that remained to be fulfilled after resignation, and the statute would not have begun to run until the Defendants failed to perform those components as agreed. The Defendants introduced nothing to disprove those contractual obligations, and did not establish what date the statute would have begun to run when those components were unfulfilled. The Complaints contained no allegations which would have provided the trial court or the Defendants a means of ascertaining such matters. They would have had to introduce additional matters to justify their claim that resignation was the operative date without dispute, which exceeds the proper scope of a 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss. Accordingly, it was error for the trial court to consider their motion and grant them under Rule 12(b)(6).

Had the trial court properly considered the motions under Rule 56, it would have been compelled to determine that the Defendants did not meet their initial burden to demonstrate the absence of a genuine issue of material facts concerning their affirmative defense. The Defendants introduced nothing beyond the letter of resignation. They presented no other facts or authority compelling the conclusion that there was no genuine dispute concerning whether resignation was in fact the date the statute should have begun to run. There would have been a factual issue for the jury to resolve concerning the Defendants' affirmative defense. Further, the Plaintiff sufficiently plead fraud by the Defendants in the making of the contracts and performance of their obligations, and set forth specific facts of subterfuge indicating the Defendants prevented the Plaintiff from discovering her causes of action of action until December 31, 1997. Therefore, the trial

In the event the trial Court was otherwise correct in any respect in granting the Defendants' Motions to Dismiss, its decision to apply Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-69 prior to the time the Plaintiff received notice required by law of entry of the order of dismissal from the original action, after she diligent inquired with state actors and was misinformed, was contrary to due process of law and a violation of her constitutional rights.

ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

Motions to dismiss under either Miss. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) or Rule 56 raise questions of law and are reviewed de novo. Hartford Cas. Ins. Co. v. Halliburton Co., 826 So.2d 1206, 1209-10 (Miss. 2001). Rule 12(b)(6) tests the legal sufficiency of a complaint, and provides that dismissal shall be granted to the moving party where the plaintiff has failed to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. Children's Med. Group, P.A. v. Phillips, 940 So.2d 931, 934 (Miss. 2006). The scope of review of an M.R.C.P. 12(b)(6) motion is that the Plaintiff's allegations must be taken as true, and the motion should not be granted unless it appears beyond a reasonable doubt that the plaintiff will be unable to prove any set of facts in support of her claim. Missala Marine Servs., Inc. v. Odom, 861 So.2d 290, 294 (Miss. 2003); Overstreet v. Merlos, 570 So.2d 1196, 1197 (Miss.1990); Grantham v. Mississippi Dep't of Corrections, 522 So.2d 219, 220 (Miss.1988); Lester Eng'g Co. v. Richland Water & Sewer Dist., 504 So.2d 1185,

Motions to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6) are considered on the face of the pleadings alone. *Hartford*, 826 So.2d at 1211. By contrast, Rule 56 tests the notion of well-pled facts and requires a party to present probative evidence demonstrating triable issues of fact. *Stuckey v. Provident Bank*, 912 So.2d 859, 865-66 (Miss. 2005). The burden of proving that no genuine issue of material fact exists is on the moving party. *McMichael v. Howell*, 919 So.2d 18, 21 (Miss. 2005). The Court will not grant summary judgment unless the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file, together with affidavits, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *McMichael*, 919 So.2d at 21. The evidence is to be viewed in a light most favorable to the party opposing the motion. *Id*.

B. The Court Considered Matters Extrinsic to the Pleadings, but Failed to Convert the Defendants' Miss. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) Motion to a Rule 56 Motion for Summary Judgment and Deprived the Plaintiff of a Reasonable Opportunity to Present All Matters Relevant to the Issues Raised by the Defendants' Statute of Limitations Argument

In both matters at issue in this appeal, the Defendants erroneously sought to dismiss the actions by motion ostensibly brought under Miss. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6). Similarly, the trial court erroneously construed the motions as brought under Rule 12(b)(6), thereby applying the wrong rules of decision to decide the motions. Rule 12(b) provides in relevant part as follows:

Every defense, in law or fact, to a claim for relief in any pleading...shall be asserted in the responsive pleading

Page -16-

numbered (6) to dismiss for failure of the pleading to state a claim upon which relief can be granted, matters outside the pleading are presented to and not excluded by the court, the motion shall be treated as one for summary judgment and disposed of a s provided in Rule 56, and all parties shall be given reasonably opportunity to present all material made pertinent to such a motion by Rule 56.

The motions to dismiss initially raised multiple matters outside the pleadings, such as Via's letter of resignation attached as Exhibit B and the contracts the Defendants made reference to. It is clear the Court relied on either the letter of resignation or Via's affidavit attached to her Opposition to the motion to dismiss in its ruling, because, while the Complaint makes no reference to what date the Plaintiff resigned her position with the Defendants, the Court found the limitation period must have begun to run on September 1, 1996. [R.(783), pg. 94-95; *Id.* pgs. 42 (Exhibit "B" to Defendants' motion to dismiss), 69 (Affidavit of Martha Via attached as Exhibit "B" to her Opposition), 75 (Defendants' reliance upon and argument to the Court about averments contained in Via's Affidavit)].

In considering a dismissal for the failure of the complaint to state a claim upon which relief can be granted, the Court is limited to a review of the complaint and should grant the motion only when it appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff will be unable to prove any set of facts in support of the claims. *Brewer v. Burdette*, 768 So.2d 920, 922 (Miss. 2000). If matters outside the pleadings are presented and accepted by the Court during consideration of a Rule 12(b)(6) motion, the motion is converted to a motion for summary judgment and disposed of in line with the rules of decision provided under

opportunity to present all material made pertinent to the motion by Rule 56. Id.

While the object of Rule 12(b)(6) and Rule 56 motions is the same, which is to test legal sufficiency of claims brought by a Plaintiff, the analysis and emphasis of scrutiny for each are vastly distinguishable. 12(b)(6) motions test the statement of a claim in the Complaint and are confined to the determination of whether the Complaint states a claim upon which the Plaintiff might be able to prove any set of facts in support. If the Plaintiff makes claims encompassing contractual breaches and damages that occur after the date of resignation, as this Plaintiff does, then the mere fact of resignation does nothing to establish the statute of limitations. More facts are required and there is certainly a cognizable fact scenario under the 12(b)(6) analysis that would push the statute of limitations trigger date past the date of resignation. That is why the trial court was constrained to read, in error, both Complaints as excluding any claims for contract monetary damages; its ruling was unjustified otherwise under the 12(b)(6) analysis. Rule 56 is the appropriate avenue if the Defendants raise issues outside the pleadings and desire the trial court determine whether or not there is a genuine issue of material fact on some dispositive issue.

In this case, the Defendants raised the affirmative defense of limitations expiration and introduced matters outside the Complaints in an attempt to prove that. The trial court did not exclude, and in fact, relied on the Defendant's submissions. By doing this, it considered the extrinsic matters raised by the Defendants, but ignored the Plaintiff's Affidavit and otherwise deprived her of a reasonable opportunity to present all

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