IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2008-CA-00782 (Consolidated with No. 2008-CA-00783)

MARTHA VIA

APPELLANT

VS.

MISSISSIPPI FARM BUREAU FEDERATION, RANKIN COUNTY FARM BUREAU (A.A.L.), RURAL INSURANCE AGENCY, INC., SOUTHERN FARM BUREAU LIFE INSURANCE CO., SOUTHERN FARM BUREAU CASUALTY INSURANCE CO., MISSISSIPPI FARM BUREAU CASUALTY INSURANCE CO., MISSISSIPPI FARM BUREAU MUTUAL INSURANCE CO., MARCUS MARTIN, DAN MARTIN AND JOE DOE #1 THROUGH JOHN DOE #25

APPELLEES

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HINDS COUNTY SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT

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

The Circuit Court correctly found Via did not sufficiently plead fraudulent concealment as

to invoke the discovery rule. Also, as Via had the responsibility to discover the Order of Dismissal in Claiborne County, the Court correctly determined that her alleged failure to receive notice of that Order would have no affect on the statute of limitations issue. In fact, since Via re-filed Via I within the one year period of the savings statue, this argument is irrelevant.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE 1: Whether this appeal is procedurally barred pursuant to the Mississippi Rules of Appellate Procedure since the notice of appeal was not filed within 30 days of entry of the memorandum opinion and order dismissing the complaint?

I. Standard of Review

Timely filing of a notice of appeal is jurisdictional, and jurisdictional issues are questions of law which the Mississippi Supreme Court reviews de novo. Busby v. Anderson, 978 So. 2d 637, 638-39 (Miss. 2008). Mississippi Rule of Appellate Procedure 4(a) requires the notice of appeal to be filed with the clerk of the trial court within thirty days after the date of the entry of the judgment or order being appealed. MISS. R. APP. P. 4(a). Regardless of whether the parties raise jurisdiction, a court is required to note its own lack of jurisdiction. See Bank of Edwards v. Cassity Auto Sales, Inc., 599 So. 2d 579, 582 (Miss.1992); Duncan v. St. Romain, 569 So. 2d 687, 690 (Miss.1990); Tandy Electronics, Inc. v. Fletcher, 554 So. 2d 308, 310 (Miss. 1989). If a notice of appeal is not timely filed, then the appellate court simply does not have jurisdiction. SEE MISS. R. APP. P. 2(a)(1)(stating "[a]n appeal shall be dismissed if the notice of appeal was not timely filed pursuant to Rules 4 or 5"). Rule 2(a) of the Mississippi Rules of Appellate Procedure, "Mandatory Dismissal", reflects the long-standing rule in this state that the failure to file a timely appeal leaves this Court without jurisdiction to consider the case. See Ware v. Capers, 573 So. 2d 773, 774 (Miss. 1990); Kennedy v. Gervais, 345 So. 2d 1039, 1039 (Miss. 1977). The rule is strictly enforced. Ware, 573 So. 2d at 775; Duncan, 569 at 688-89.

II. Via's Notice of Appeal was not timely filed and according to the applicable procedural rules it must be dismissed.

On February 12, 2008, in its Memorandum Opinion and Order, the Circuit Court of Hinds County granted Defendants' Motion to Dismiss. R1. AT 90; R2. AT 209. The next day, February 13, 2008, the Order was stamped "filed" and entered on the respective dockets for Via I and II. R1. AT 1-2, 90, 97; R2. AT 1-2, 209, 216. In order for Via to timely and properly appeal the trial court's Order she was required to file a Notice of Appeal with the clerk of the trial court. SEE MISS. R. APP. P. 3(a). Via had thirty days from February 13, 2008, or until March 15, 2008, to file her Notice of Appeal. SEE MISS. R. APP. P. 4(a) (stating "the notice of appeal required by Rule 3 **shall** be filed with the clerk of the trial court **within 30 days** after the date of the entry of the judgment or order appealed from"); SEE ALSO *Bank of Edwards*, 599 So. 2d at 582 (appeal dismissed with 73-day delay in filing notice of appeal); *Duncan*, 569 So. 2d at 690 (appeal dismissed with 32-day delay in filing notice of appeal); *Tandy Electronics*, 554 So. 2d at 310.

Here, Via did not file her Notice of Appeal from the February 13, 2008 Memorandum Opinion and Order until May 5, 2008. R1. AT 98; R2. AT 217. This was more than the thirty day time period for filing such notices allowed under Mississippi Rule of Appellate Procedure 4(a). According to Mississippi Rule of Appellate Procedure 2(a), "**Mandatory Dismissal**", the appeal must be dismissed as it was not timely filed. MISS. R. APP. P. 2(a) (stating "[a]n appeal **shall** be dismissed if the notice of appeal was not timely filed pursuant to Rules 4 or 5")⁹; *see also Ware*, 573 So. 2d at 775; *Duncan*, 569 at 688-89 (appeal dismissed where out-of-state lawyer relied in good faith on conflicting statutory appeal period of 45 days).

The respective certified dockets do not reflect that Via ever requested an extension of time to file her Notice of Appeal or that she ever moved to have the time for appeal be reopened. R1.AT 1-2; R2. AT 1-2; *see also* MISS. R. APP. P. 4(g) and 4(h). Since her Notice of Appeal in each case was untimely and since she failed to seek an extension of the appeal time or failed to move to reopen the

⁹ Mississippi Rule of Appellate Procedure 5 deals with Interlocutory Appeals.

appeal time, her appeal is improper. Consequently, the Supreme Court has no jurisdiction to hear the appeal, and it must be dismissed.

ISSUE 2: Notwithstanding Issue 1, whether the trial court was correct in dismissing this action with prejudice as time barred by the three-year statute of limitations as provided in Mississippi Code Annotated §15-1-49?

I. Standard of Review

A motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil procedure raises an issue of law, which is reviewed de novo. *Cook v. Brown*, 909 So. 2d 1075, 1077-78 (Miss. 2005). A Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim tests the legal sufficiency of the complaint. *Id.* The allegations in the complaint must be taken as true, and there must be no set of facts that would allow the plaintiff to prevail. *Ralph Walker, Inc. v. Gallagher*, 926 So. 2d 890, 893 (Miss. 2006). The Supreme Court must find that there is no set of facts that would entitle a plaintiff to relief under the law in order to affirm an order granting the dismissal of a claim on a Rule 12(b)(6) motion. *Id.*

"[M]otions to dismiss and motions for summary judgment have been by rule declared interchangeable." *Jones v. Regency Toyota, Inc.*, 798 So. 2d 474, 475 (Miss. 2001) (stating "a party against whom a motion to dismiss under M.R.C.P. 12(b)(6) has been filed is thereby on actual notice that the motion to dismiss may be treated as a motion for summary judgment if the conditions prescribed in the rule are found, including the opportunity to present any relevant material").

In determining whether the trial court properly granted or denied a motion for summary judgment, a de novo review of the record is conducted viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party below. *Meyers v. American States Ins. Co.*, 914 So. 2d 669, 673 (Miss. 2005). "[A] circuit court may grant summary judgment 'if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no

genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." *MacDonald v. Mississippi Dept. of Transp.*, 955 So. 2d 355, 359-60 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006). A fact is material if it "tends to resolve any of the issues, properly raised by the parties." *Id.* at 360.

"This Court uses a de novo standard of review when passing on questions of law including statute of limitations issues." *Stephens v. Equitable Life Assurance Society*, 850 So.2d 78, 82 (Miss.2003). The evaluation of a statute of limitations defense may be brought via a motion for summary judgment. *Robertson v. Moody*, 918 So.2d 787, 789 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005). The general three-year statute of limitations is controlling in the instant case. MISS. CODE ANN. § 15-1-49 (REV.2003). This section provides in part: "[a]ll actions for which no other period of limitation is prescribed shall be commenced within three (3) years next after the cause of such action accrued, and not after." *Id.*

Even if the Farm Bureau Companies' joint Motions to Dismiss were converted into Motions for Summary Judgment under Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) there is no genuine issue of material fact because the claims set forth by Via in her Complaint arise out of alleged conduct which took place prior to her termination and the three year statute of limitations as to those claims has expired. As such, the decision of the lower court should be affirmed.

II. The trial court properly determined that the three year statute of limitations barred the claims asserted in Via's Complaint.¹⁰

Via had 120 days to serve the Defendants after filing the Complaint in Via I on March 2, 2007. SEE MISS. R. CIV. P. 4(h) (stating "[i]f a service of the summons and complaint is not made upon a defendant within 120 days after the filing of the complaint and the party on whose behalf such service was required cannot show good cause why such service was not made . . . the action **shall** be dismissed"). It is undisputed that Via failed to serve process in Via I within 120 days as required by Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 4(h). Because Via failed to serve process within 120 days in Via I and failed to show good cause, that action was properly dismissed. Further, this allowed the statute of limitations to start running again, and it expired on July 3, 2007 (Via only had one day left on the statute of limitations when she originally filed suit in Claiborne County on August 30, 1999). *See Watters v. Stripling*, 675 So. 2d 1242, 1244 (Miss. 1996). Good cause does not exist where the plaintiff knows, should have known, or could easily have known the whereabouts of the defendants in order to serve process. *Young v. Hooker*, 753 So. 2d 456, 461-62 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999). The Complaint in Via II was filed on August 25, 2007 after the statute of limitations had expired on July 3, 2007.

¹⁰ In fact, Via has set forth counts in her Complaint for Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress and Conspiracy which are governed by a one year statute of limitations. See e.g. McGuffie v. Herrington, 966 So. 2d 1274, 1278 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007); Slaydon v. Hansford, 830 So. 2d 686, 688 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002). Thus, the statute of limitations as to these claims would have expired even prior to the filing of the Claiborne County Complaint on August 30, 1999 and certainly would not be valid by the time Via II was filed.

A. The trial court's consideration of documents outside of the complaint in its determination of the date of resignation does not warrant a reversal of the trial court's decision.

In its evaluation of the Motion to Dismiss, the lower Court considered documents other than those attached to Via's Complaints. Via argues that this improperly converted the Motion to Dismiss to a Motion for Summary Judgment and deprived her of a reasonable opportunity to present all matters relevant to whether the statute of limitations expired. However, Via was not deprived of presenting material she considered relevant and in fact did present these materials to the trial court. Via herself attached exhibits to her Opposition to the Motion to Dismiss other than those exhibits attached the her Complaint. During the November 2007 hearing, counsel for Via repeatedly referred to the Motion at issue as a Motion to Summary Judgment. In fact, counsel for Via asserted that the Motion to Dismiss had been converted to a Motion for Summary Judgment:

> Yes, Your Honor. May it please the Court. My name is Mark McLeod, and I'm representing plaintiffs Barbara Rigdon and Martha Via in opposition to these motions, these summary judgment motions, to dismiss these claims with prejudice. I'll first take up the issue of the basis of the with prejudice dismissal that they're arguing. Counsel opposite has indicated that this motion was filed as a 12(b)(6) motion and that the standard applicable that this Court is required to apply is under that. However, under the rules of Mississippi Civil Procedure 12, it does indicate that if matters outside the pleadings, that is, the complaint and the motion that the defendants file, are presented to the court for consideration, then the court shall convert that into a Rule 56 summary judgment motion. And in this case, the defendants in support of their motion submitted the letters of resignation of Ms. -- Ms. Via and Ms. Rigdon. And so that's a matter which exceeds the pleadings, and so it will be, in fact, a Rule 56 motion that the Court is considering today regarding the dismissal with prejudice. TR. AT 11-12

> Of course, <u>regarding summary judgment motions</u>, you can submit affidavits up to the day before, and that's we've really added nothing new except those affidavits which go into the issues that are raised under their motions factually. *Id.* at 13

And so for that reason we're asking the Court to deny their <u>motion for</u> <u>summary judgment</u> a dismissal with prejudice. *Id.* at 18

So I would ask the Court to consider all those and deny their motion for summary judgment. *Id.* at 24.

Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b) allows for a Motion to Dismiss be converted to

a Motion for Summary Judgment:

If, on a motion to dismiss for failure of the pleading to state a claim upon which relief can be granted, matters outside the pleading are presented to and not excluded by the court, the motion shall be treated as one for summary judgment and disposed of as provided in Rule 56, and all parties shall be given reasonable opportunity to present all material made pertinent to such a motion by Rule 56.

MISS. R. CIV. P. 12(b)(6).

The Defendants attached the following exhibits to the Motion to Dismiss: (1) Via's letter of resignation, (2) the Claiborne County Complaint; and (3) the July 2006 Order of Dismissal from Claiborne County.¹¹ R1. AT 42, 43, 45; R2. AT 161, 162, 164. The day before the hearing, Via filed Oppositions to the Motions to Dismiss. Via attached as exhibits an Emergency Motion to Vacate Order of Dismissal filed in Claiborne County, two Affidavits of Martha Via¹², an Affidavit of Mitch Tyner, and the Claiborne County Order of Dismissal. R1. AT 52; 63; 66; 68; 69; R2. AT 171, 182, 185, 187, 188.

¹² Via's affidavit dated November 13, 2007 even states "I submitted my resignation from my position as an agent for the Farm Bureau Insurance Companies effective August 31, 1996." R1. AT 69, ¶5; R2 AT 188, ¶5.

¹¹ The lower court could take judicial notice of the dates certain orders and pleadings were filed in this case and the Claiborne County action which establish the relevant procedural timeline for calculating the expiration of the statute of limitations. MISS. R. EVID. 201; *See also, Peden v. City of Gautier*, 870 So. 2d 1185, 1187 (Miss. 2004) (holding it was proper for Court to take judicial notice of matters in court file).

Just because the Court may have considered Via's own letter of resignation in determining the effective date of termination, it does not mean that Via was deprived of an opportunity to present material relevant to the issue of whether the statute of limitations expired. Via had plenty of opportunity to present material regarding the statute of limitations. The Motions to Dismiss were filed on August 21, 2007 and October 9, 2007. R1 AT 1; R2 AT 1. The hearing was not until November 16, 2007, more than a month after the latter Motion to Dismiss was filed. *Id.*

The Mississippi Supreme Court has held that where a party does not object to the trial court considering matters outside the pleadings the argument is waived or barred. In *Champluvier v. Beck*, 909 So.2d 1061 (Miss. 2004), this Court held that:

The language of Rule 12 granting a respondent to a motion to dismiss subsequently converted to a summary judgment motion an opportunity to present further material is not self-executing. A litigant desiring to avail herself of the right to present more evidentiary material has an affirmative duty to timely raise the issue with the trial court or be deemed to have waived objection to the court proceeding on the motion. Because the appellant did not raise the issue of appropriate notice for the conversion with the trial court, this issue is barred.

Earlier the Mississippi Court of Appeals in Koestler v. Miss. College, 749 So.2d 1122 (Miss.

Ct. App. 1999):

Where a Rule 12 motion is converted to a summary judgment motion, the requirement that the opposing party be given an opportunity to present additional material is not self-executing and the party has a duty to timely raise the issue or be deemed to have waived it.

Via did not object to the trial court considering matters outside the pleadings and in fact

offered her own documents for it to consider. The Court's concern in considering Rule 12 motions

that are converted to a Rule 56 motion for summary judgment is to make sure that the non-movant

is given notice that a motion to dismiss may be treated as a summary judgment as M.R.C.P. 12(b)(7)

allows. See, e.g., Jones v. Jackson Public Schools, 760 So.2d 730 (Miss. 2000). That Via had notice of it here is incontrovertible. She submitted documents outside the pleadings to the trial court. Further, at the hearing on the Motions, counsel for Via acknowledged he was treating the Defendants' Motion as a Motion for Summary Judgment.

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